FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/26/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/24/2024 12:32 PM

No. 84933-6-I (consolidated with No. 85558-1-I)

Case #: 1037309

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RUTH SCOTT, individually, and as personal representative of the ESTATE OF MIKAEL SCOTT, a deceased individual; JEFF MUHLEMAN, individually, and as personal representative of the ESTATE OF TYLER MUHLEMAN, a deceased individual; and CINDY CRUZ, individually,

Petitioners,

V.

AMAZON.COM, INC., a Delaware Corporation,

Respondent.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are the grieving parents and estates of four vulnerable people to whom Amazon.com, Inc. ("Amazon"), with the knowledge it would likely be used for self-harm, sold high purity sodium nitrite ("SN").

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I's November 25, 2024 published opinion is in the Appendix.

This case has been before this Court before. Commissioner Johnston ruled that Division I committed obvious error in granting discretionary review in Cause No. 102631-5 ("Ruling") at 5, but he declined review, predicting: "there is a possibility the case will end up here eventually." Ruling at 10 n.2. *See* Appendix.

Amazon promoted, sold, and delivered high-purity SN, an invariably lethal chemical with no household uses, in its web market place. Amazon *knew for years* that minors and young adults considering self-harm were buying this lethal poison on

Amazon.com and were ingesting it and then dying in a painful and gruesome manner. Nevertheless, Amazon continued promoting and selling SN to vulnerable people with predictable results: excruciating pain followed by death.

On review of trial court decisions denying CR 12(b)(6) dismissal, Division I correctly rejected Amazon's contention that a product defect is an essential predicate to a seller liability claim under the Washington Product Liability Act, RCW 7.72 ("WPLA"). Op. 14 ("There is no defective product predicate anywhere in the text of the WPLA that restricts liability for the negligence of a product seller."). It also correctly ruled that RCW 7.72.040(1)(a) preserves claims against product sellers for common law *negligence*, analyzing specific common law duties arising out of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts*; the *Restatement* plainly animated "negligence" under RCW 7.72.040(1)(a).

¹ Three other Washington trial courts denied CR 12(b)(6) motions by Amazon. A chart of all pending SN suicide cases against Amazon is in the Appendix.

However, the court also misapplied some of those duty principles, as will be noted *infra*.

Division I ultimately reversed the trial court decisions, applying a "suicide rule," an immunity, based on its incorrect belief that a duty may not arise out of promoting/aiding suicide or that suicide is a superseding cause as a matter of law. In doing so, lamenting that its hands were tied by this Court's "archaic" precedents, Division I essentially invited this Court to grant review to address that causation issue. Op. 25, 28.

This case presents significant public policy issues of statewide consequence that this Court should address. In addition to the legal issues that compel this Court's review, prudential factors argue for review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). As noted *supra*, there are at least 9 other cases of a similar nature involving 23 vulnerable people's suicides, awaiting this Court's decision. Those other cases have been stayed by the parties' agreement or court order. The Ninth Circuit has also stayed its decision in *McCarthy v. Amazon.com* (Cause No. 23-35584), pending this

Court's decision. See Appendix.

Division I's published opinion on the suicide rule and duty merits this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does Washington law reject the *Restatement* (Second) of Torts § 281 and instead apply a "suicide rule" that either finds no duty when a defendant facilitates/promotes another's suicide or treats such a suicide as a superseding cause as a matter of law?
- 2. For purposes of negligent entrustment under the *Restatement* § 390, must a defendant visualize the plaintiff's incapacity in order for a duty to exist?
- 3. Is a duty owed under the *Restatement* § 388 when a product seller supplies an industrial strength poison for which there is no household use to vulnerable people?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion addresses the facts and procedure below, op. 2-9, but certain points bear emphasis.

- Amazon is the world's largest retailer and supplied SN on its website at a very low price and with quick delivery to any consumer. CP 213-45;
- Pure SN is an industrial grade poison that looks like salt and has no household uses; its ingestion invariably results

in death. CP 390, 400-01;

- Amazon has never restricted access to SN to adults² or commercial buyers, steps that would have prevented the suicides in these cases. CP 213-45;
- Amazon affirmatively escalated the suicidal mindset of the decedents through its acts of promoting and selling them the poison; and most importantly, by home delivering it to their doorsteps. CP 213-45, 379-417;
- Amazon's algorithm for SN on its website routed consumers to a book ("Amazon edition") on how to die by suicide using SN, scales to weigh the poison, and antiemetics to prevent the consumer from vomiting it up. CP 225-26, 394-95, 413;
- Amazon knew from the suppliers of SN themselves that its ingestion was lethal. CP 392-94;
- Amazon was aware that Sanctioned Suicide, a group that advocates suicide, also promoted SN purchased from Amazon, as a means of suicide. CP 196, 215, 381, 393, 410;
- Amazon knew as early as 2018 from grieving parents that young people were using SN from its store to die by suicide, CP 214-15, 236, 281, 392, but it did not stop selling the poison until 2022, and it has never promised to permanently remove the poison from its website. CP 215;

² See McCarthy v. Amazon.com, 679 F. Supp. 3d 1058 (W.D. Wash 2023) (16 year-old Kristin Jonsson was able to set up an Amazon account, contrary to Amazon policy, and to buy SN).

- After 2018, Amazon received a letter from Congress about SN and youth suicides, CP 414-15 (*see* Appendix), was aware that foreign governments had banned or restricted SN sales because of its use for suicides, CP 145, and was aware of a New York *Times* investigation of SN and youth suicides. CP 242, 414 (*see* Appendix);
- Amazon's competitors, eBay and Etsy, removed SN from their websites in 2019 and 2020 respectively, CP 226, 396-97, 402, and Loudwolf, one of Amazon's SN suppliers, stopped selling SN on Amazon's site, when youth suicides by SN ingestion became known. CP 383;
- Far from being resolutely committed to completing suicide, several young victims called parents or 911 after ingesting SN, or otherwise evidenced a desire to stop the process of the poison. CP 239, 382, 407-08;
- Amazon never issued warnings, nor did SN bottles warn, that ingestion of even a small amount of the poison would result in the consumer's agonizing and *irreversible* death of the user in 20 minutes. CP 235, 382-83, 400.
- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED³

³ CR 12(b)(6) motions are granted *sparingly*, *Orwick v*. *City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 254, 692 P.2d 793 (1984), only when beyond a reasonable doubt the families could not prove any set of facts, including hypothetical facts, that would justify recovery. *Tenore v. AT & T Wireless Servs.*, 136 Wn.2d 322, 330, 962 P.2d 104 (1998).

(1) <u>WPLA Product Seller Liability</u>

This case addresses an issue of first impression for this Court – the proper construction of seller liability under RCW 7.72.040.⁴ By its express language,⁵ RCW 7.72.040(1)(a) provided for negligence claims against sellers. WPI 110.07 (pattern jury instruction on seller negligence); Huntington v. Smoke City for Less, LLC, 2023 WL 2031423, *4 (E.D. Wash. 2023) ("[F]or negligence claims arising from **RCW** 7.72.040(1)(a), courts apply a standard no different than common law negligence." (collecting cases)). As will be noted *infra*, Division I correctly recognized that duty under *Restatement* §

⁴ Division I correctly rejected Amazon's arguments, derived from the federal district court's *McCarthy* decision, that a "defect" in a product is a necessary predicate to an RCW 7.72.040(1)(a) claim, the WPLA "preempts" common law negligence claims against sellers, or that common law principles do not animate the term "negligence" in RCW 7.72.040(1)(a).

⁵ Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC, 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) (statute's express language is bedrock principle of statutory construction).

281 was present under RCW 7.72.040(1)(a), but misstated other facets of the common law negligence duty owed by Amazon here.

Division I did not analyze in detail what the Legislature meant when it employed the common law phrase "negligence" in RCW 7.72.040(1)(a).⁶ In enacting RCW 7.72.040, the Legislature only relieved sellers of *strict* liability that had been applied to sellers under the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 402A in *Seattle-First National Bank v. Tabert*, 86 Wn.2d 145, 154, 542 P.2d 774 (1975). Otherwise, the Legislature *preserved* common law negligence in RCW 7.72.040(1)(a): "If the non-manufacturing product seller was negligent, it will bear the

⁶ Resting on a "common law foundation," *Taylor v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc.*, 187 Wn.2d 743, 761, 389 P.3d 517 (2017), the WPLA preserved the common law to the extent not expressly abrogated by the WPLA. RCW 7.72.020(1). *See Appendix.* This is consistent with this Court's general principle that a statute purporting to abrogate a common law principle requires the Legislature to do so expressly. *Potter v. Wash. State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, 76, 196 P.3d 691 (2008).

burden of liability under the standards governing negligence."

Senate Journal at 632.⁷

Given this proper context, this Court should grant review to address the so-called suicide rule and the scope of a seller's negligence under RCW 7.72.040(1)(a). RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

(2) <u>Washington Does Not Have a Suicide Immunity</u> <u>Rule</u>

Division I erred in determining that a "suicide immunity" rule applies in Washington. Op. 18-19, 22-28. Whether treated as a duty issue or causation issue, Washington does not immunize any person, including product sellers, who knowingly aids in another's suicide or supplies the instrumentality of a

The WPLA's robust legislative history, including the Senate Select Committee's section-by-section analysis of the WPLA in the *Senate Journal*, S. Journal, 47th Leg., Reg. Sess. 616, 632 (1981) ("*Senate Journal*"), and the contemporaneous article written by the WPLA's prime legislative sponsor, who also chaired that Senate committee. Philip A. Talmadge, *Washington's Product Liability Act*, 5 U. Puget Sd. L. Rev. 1 (1981), available at https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sulr/vol5/iss1/1/ (last accessed Dec. 24, 2024), supports that interpretation.

victim's death.

Division I recognized that Washington law on causation and suicide is "archaic" and conflicting, op. 25-26, and essentially invited this Court to grant review. Op. 28, 30-31. Division I ignored settled Washington law on superseding cause, as Division II held in another suicide-related case in *Adgar v*. *Dinsmore*, 26 Wn. App. 2d 866, 530 P.3d 236 (2023), *review denied*, 2 Wn.3d 1014 (2024). Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

(a) Duty

Division I adopted the view that persons have no duty "to prevent suicide," based on its erroneous reading of *Webstad v*. *Stortini*, 83 Wn. App. 857, 924 P.2d 940 (1996), *review denied*, 131 Wn.2d 1016 (1997),⁸ a split 2-1 decision that predates this

⁸ Despite *Webstad*, Washington courts recognize that a defendant has a duty of reasonable care to protect another person from suicide when a special relationship exists. *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 644, 645, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) (plurality) (jailer duty to inmate); *Hunt v. King County*, 4 Wn.

Court's decisions on duty under *Restatement* § 281 and the development of Washington superseding cause principles. Commissioner Johnston correctly noted that *Webstad* was *distinguishable*. Ruling at 8-9.

In *Webstad*, the parties had been "romantically involved," and the defendant, a prominent politician, previously employed the decedent. While drunk, the decedent called the defendant and told him that "she was going to take some pills." 83 Wn. App. at 861. On those facts, the estate argued that the parties had a special relationship that triggered the politician's affirmative duty to stop her and to render aid. Plainly, he did not supply the *instrumentality of death* that increased or created the risk of suicide, as was true here, and the *Webstad* majority accordingly concluded: "the law provides no general duty to protect others from self-inflicted harm." *Id.* at 866.

-

App. 14, 481 P.2d 593, *review denied*, 79 Wn.2d 1001 (1971) (county negligently allowed psychotic patient to escape and commit suicide by jumping out of window).

But unlike the defendant in *Webstad*, Amazon *knowingly* promoted and supplied the instrumentality of death to vulnerable people, delivering SN to their homes. Since *Webstad*, this Court has developed its *Restatement* § 281 jurisprudence and refined its perception of young people's brain development that limits their ability to appreciate risk. Amazon had a duty to refrain from enhancing the foreseeable risk of harm to persons with whom it interacted. *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 550, 442 P.3d 608 (2019) ("[E]very individual owes a duty of reasonable care to refrain from causing foreseeable harm in interactions with others."); *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*,

⁹ Young people contemplate dangerous and reckless acts without appreciating or intending the outcomes—even if those outcomes may appear obvious to mature adults. Youth is often characterized by immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences. *In re Pers. Restraint of Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d 305, 322, 482 P.3d 276 (2021); *In re Stevens*, 200 Wn.2d 531, 554, 519 P.3d 208 (2022). Neuroscientific studies support the view that the parts of the adolescent brain involved in behavior control mature well into a person's twenties. *Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d at 321; *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 691-92, 358 P.3d 359 (2015).

196 Wn.2d 864, 885-86, 479 P.3d 656 (2021); *Nunley v. Chelan-Douglas Health Dist.*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 558 P.3d 513, 520 (2024).

Despite *Webstad*'s view that there allegedly is no duty to *prevent* a suicide, there *is* a duty not to promote/aid it; it's a *crime* to promote/aid suicide in Washington under RCW 9A.36.060; a person is guilty of a felony when he/she knowingly causes or aids another person to attempt suicide. *See also*, RCW 70.245.200(3) (Washington's Death with Dignity Act carves out civil liability for negligence as to suicide). Given this clear Washington public policy, the statute supports a related tort duty. RCW 5.40.050.¹⁰ Critically, unreferenced by Division I, the *Webstad* majority focused on the absence of language in RCW 9A.36.060 regarding prevention of suicides, as a basis for its decision. 83 Wn. App. at 866. RCW 9A.36.060 supports a duty not to aid

¹⁰ Logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent animate a duty in tort. *Centurion Props. III LLC v. Chicago Title Ins. Co.*, 186 Wn.2d 58, 65, 375 P.3d 651 (2016).

another's suicide. 11

Division I misread *Webstad* on duty. Its analysis is inconsistent with this Court's *Restatement* § 281 jurisprudence. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(b) Superseding Cause as a Matter of Law

Division I also believed that this Court's archaic case law arguably required it as an intermediate appellate court to treat suicide as a superseding cause of the young people's deaths here as a matter of law. Op. 23-28. It erred, particularly where it failed to cite this Court's well-established superseding cause precedents. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Division I erred when it ruled that causation could be decided as a matter of law; causation is generally a fact question,

¹¹ Not only does Division I fail to address the *Webstad* court's reliance on RCW 9A.36.060's language to discern no duty to *prevent* suicide, Division I observes in a footnote, op. 23 n.16, that the statute is not "strong enough" to support a duty not aid suicides. That was not Division I's decision. *The Legislature* set that policy, and it is for a jury to decide if its breach is negligence. RCW 5.40.050.

unsuited for disposition on a summary judgment motion, let alone a CR 12(b)(6) motion. *Ayers v. Johnson & Johnson*, 117 Wn.2d 747, 818 P.2d 1337 (1991); *O'Connell v. MacNeil Wash Sys.*, *Ltd.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 238, 254-56, 409 P.3d 1107 (2017).

Division I relied on this Court's old cases that evidenced an antiquated understanding of mental illness. Arsnow v. Red Top Cab Co., 159 Wash. 137, 292 P. 436 (1930); Orcutt v. Spokane County, 58 Wn.2d 846, 364 P.2d 1102 (1961). Op. 24-25. There, the risk of self-harm was not the basis for the duty that the defendant breached. Rather, the decedents suffered accidental physical injuries by negligent drivers in automobile wrecks, and the injured persons died years later by suicide. Arsnow, 159 Wash. at 138; Orcutt, 58 Wn.2d at 848-49. Thus, the deaths in those cases were indirect and remote in time from the incidents that made the defendants liable, and death by suicide was tangential to the risks of harm that made the defendants negligent.

Arsnow/Orcutt essentially address when the causal chain

is broken by a superseding cause. But those early attempts to apply causation principles to suicides should not result in this Court, decades later, fashioning a general suicide rule that bars all cases involving suicide even when the defendant acted knowingly to supply the instrumentality of the victim's death. Amazon's conduct was not accidental as in *ArsnowlOrcutt*. The harm of SN ingestion by vulnerable people was eminently foreseeable by Amazon when it *knew* SN was being used for suicides by vulnerable people.

Division II's *Adgar* decision, *supra*, is instructive. There, a water district employee left a truck running with keys in the ignition and a troubled man stole it. He then drove the truck into oncoming traffic expressly intending to commit suicide, but instead, he severely injured the plaintiff. Division II held that the district owed the plaintiff "a duty of care to protect him from [the troubled man's] criminal conduct because the [district staffer's] affirmative acts exposed him to a recognizable high degree of risk of harm, which a reasonable person would have taken into

account." 26 Wn. App. 2d at 875. Moreover, analyzing *Arsnow*, *Orcutt*, and *Webstad*, the court rejected the notion that suicide constituted a superseding cause as a matter of law. *Id.* at 885-86. Instead, the court applied this Court's traditional principles on superseding cause. *Id.* at 885.

Ordinary principles of superseding causation apply here, but Division I failed to even cite them. Intervening cause, including the element of foreseeability, is a question of fact. Maltman v. Sauer, 84 Wn.2d 975, 982, 530 P.2d 254 (1975). An intervening act constitutes a superseding cause that breaks the causal chain only if: 1) the intervening act created a different type of harm than otherwise would have resulted from the actor's negligence; (2) the intervening act was extraordinary or resulted in extraordinary consequences; (3) the intervening act operated *independently* of any situation created by the actor's negligence." Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp., 107 Wn.2d 807, 812, 733 P.2d 969 (1987) (applying Restatement (Second) of Torts § 442). See also, Albertson v. State, 191 Wn. App. 284, 297, 361 P.3d 808

Not only did Division I misread ArsnowlOrcutt/Webstad to create an immunity, its decision puts Washington outside the mainstream of American law that rejects such an antiquated "suicide rule." Division I's decision tethers Washington to the past. In 1881, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that a defendant could not be liable for an injured person later dying by suicide, reasoning that suicide "was not the natural and probable consequence" of the defendant's negligence in causing a train wreck. Scheffer v. Railroad Co., 105 U.S. (15 Otto) 249, 252, 26 L. Ed. 1070 (1881). Other courts followed suit, ruling "suicide is an unforeseeable consequence of a defendant's negligence, and therefore the efficient or superseding cause of death." Alex B. Long, Abolishing the Suicide Rule, 113 Nw. U. L. Rev. 767, 783 & n.121 (2019) ("hereinafter Long) (summarizing and collecting cases). This principle became known as "the suicide rule." Johnson v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 588 F.3d 439, 440 (7th Cir. **200**9) (applying Illinois law).

Now, society's more sophisticated understanding of suicide has broken free of the misconceptions underpinning this old rule. Courts have reformed this archaic rule accordingly in a wave of decisions. Long, supra, at 812-820 & nn.310-61 (discussing and collecting cases). Doctrinally, courts have recognized that a suicide's role in causation turns on ordinary principles of foreseeability and superseding causation, not a blanket immunity. See id. at 812-13 ("Implicit in these decisions is the recognition that traditional foreseeable scope-of-risk analysis is sufficient to address the vast majority of these cases without relying upon the fiction that suicide is a superseding cause as a matter of law."). For example, in Tennessee, a seller that negligently supplied ammunition to a suicidal person was liable when the suicide was foreseeable. Rains v. Bend of the River, 124 S.W.3d 580, 594 (Tenn. App. 2003). In Missouri, that state's high court concluded that a doctor may be liable for suicide following a botched spinal surgery. Kivland v. Columbia *Orthopaedic Group, LLP*, 331 S.W.3d 299, 303, 308 (Mo. 2011).

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