FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/23/2025 2:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1037309

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RUTH SCOTT, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MIKAEL SCOTT, A DECEASED INDIVIDUAL; JEFF MUHLEMAN, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF TYLER MUHLEMAN, A DECEASED INDIVIDUAL; AND CINDY CRUZ, INDIVIDUALLY,

Petitioners,

v.

AMAZON.COM, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION, Respondent.

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

So even if Plaintiffs were correct that the common law of proximate cause has changed in recent years, their implicit concession that their claims would be barred under the "antiquated" rule of *Arsnow* and *Orcutt* is dispositive. Pet.15. This Court must interpret the WPLA by applying "the historical view" of proximate cause—as it existed in 1981—and not "the modern view." *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 596.

Division I's proximate-cause holding does not raise an issue "that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Only the Legislature can amend the WPLA's proximate-cause element.

B. Division I's interpretation of RCW 7.72.040(1)(a)'s "negligence" element does not warrant review.

Division I correctly concluded that Plaintiffs have no viable claim under RCW 7.72.040(1)(a) because there is no "duty on sellers to protect against intentional misuse of a product" under the facts alleged. Pet.App.8. No decision—in Washington or elsewhere—supports Plaintiffs' novel and expansive negligence theories. "There is no general duty to refrain from selling ... goods" simply because it foreseeable that purchasers "might misuse the good." Goldberg & Zipursky, 44 WAKE FOREST L.

REV. at 1221. And Plaintiffs' novel failure-to-warn and negligent-entrustment theories usurp the legislative function by going far beyond "the historical view" of seller negligence when the WPLA was adopted. *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 596.

1. RCW 7.72.040(1)(A) cannot support a failure-to-warn claim where the purchasers intentionally ingested a chemical knowing it was lethal.

Plaintiffs claim that Division I failed to address their section 388 failure-to-warn theory. Pet.26-28. Not true. The court noted the "numerous Washington cases supporting the conclusion that there is no duty to warn if the danger is obvious or known" and deemed those precedents "applicable here." Pet.App.21-22. Plaintiffs ignore the precedents that Division I cited. *See* Pet.26-28.

Division I's failure-to-warn holding is correct. When the WPLA was adopted (and today), it was "well recognized" that "a warning need not be given at all in instances where a danger is obvious or known."

Haysom v. Coleman Lantern Co., 89 Wn.2d 474, 479, 573 P.2d 785 (1978). And here, the decedents "necessarily knew" that ingesting sodium nitrite was dangerous because they "deliberately sought out sodium nitrite for its fatal properties." Pet.App.22 (cleaned up). Plaintiffs' arguments contravene longstanding precedent.

First, Plaintiffs point out that "[t]he adequacy of warnings" and the "obvious[ness]" of dangers are "ordinarily ... question[s] of fact." Pet.23. But "ordinarily" does not mean always. Washington courts have repeatedly held—"as a matter of law"—that "warnings" were "sufficient" and that "hazards" were so "obvious" as to obviate any duty to warn. Simonetta v. Viad Corp., 165 Wn.2d 341, 350-51, 197 P.3d 127 (2008) (collecting cases). The precedents holding that an obvious danger forecloses any duty to warn involve far more benign activities with far younger consumers, including:

• a 16-year-old performing somersaults on a trampoline in *Anderson* v. *Weslo, Inc.*, 79 Wn. App. 829, 832-33, 840, 906 P.2d 336 (1995);

- two 8-year-olds riding a mini-trail bike on public roads without helmets in *Baughn*, 107 Wn.2d at 130-31, 139-41;
- and an infant using "a baby walker" that "allow[ed] the baby some mobility" in *Thongchoom* v. *Graco Childs. Prods., Inc.*, 117 Wn. App. 299, 305, 71 P.3d 214 (2003).

Plaintiffs offer no explanation for how their cases create a factual question when those cases did not.

Second, Plaintiffs assert that the bottles' warnings were inadequate because they did not alert users to the "irreversible lethality" of ingesting sodium nitrite and the resulting "intense physical suffering." Pet.24-25. But the WPLA does not require warnings to "inform [users] of every possible injury" so long as they "warn[] of the general risk of injury." *Anderson*, 79 Wn. App. at 840. Plaintiffs cannot claim a warning is inadequate because it lacks "more vivid detail" regarding the risk of "death or serious injury." *Baughn*, 107 Wn.2d at 144.

At bottom, Plaintiffs' failure-to-warn claim fails because Washington law requires only that users be "able to understand [the] potential dangers" of a product "and the ways to avoid them." *Id.* at 140. Here, the decedents unquestionably knew that they could avoid the lethal danger of ingesting sodium nitrite by not intentionally drinking it. Pet.App.22.

2. RCW 7.72.040(1)(a) cannot be construed to include Plaintiffs' novel negligent-entrustment theory.

Plaintiffs contend that they can bring a negligent-entrustment claim under the WPLA simply because "Amazon was on notice that vulnerable persons" were buying sodium nitrite "for self-harm." Pet.26. Division I identified two "significant factual distinction[s]" under Washington law that foreclose Plaintiffs' novel theory. Pet.App.27. First, "there was no face-to-face transaction between Amazon and the purchasers of sodium nitrate that might have alerted" Amazon to their alleged incompetence. *Id.* Second, the decedents' various mental-health issues are not "the kinds of 'incompetency' that fall within" the negligent-entrustment doctrine. *Id.* Plaintiffs' attempt to refute the first distinction is meritless, and they completely ignore the second.

No knowledge of appearance or conduct. Plaintiffs "do not engage with" the fact that their theory would hold retailers liable for purchasers' misuse of products where retailers have no knowledge about the purchasers that indicates they "may be 'an incompetent." Id. Plaintiffs simply claim that knowledge is not required. Pet.25-26. "But as with liability for overservice, liability for negligent entrustment revolves around appearance." Weber v. Budget Truck Rental, LLC, 162 Wn. App. 5, 11, 254 P.3d 196 (2011). The doctrine requires that the entrustee's "appearance or conduct" indicate incompetence "at the time of entrustment," or that the entrustor otherwise have actual "knowledge" of the entrustee's "incompetence" from past "specific instances." *Id.* at 11 n.12 (cleaned up). Hence, this Court's first decision recognizing a negligent-entrustment claim grounded liability on the entrustor "knowing that at the time [the entrustee] was drinking" and knowing from past experience that the entrustee "was in the habit of getting drunk." *Mitchell* v. *Churches*, 119 Wash. 547, 552, 206 P. 6 (1922).

Instead of engaging with that well-established limiting principle, Plaintiffs attack a strawman. They claim that "visualization [i]s not required" because, in Hickle v. Whitney Farms, Inc., "[t]he producer never 'saw' the incompetent farmer" to whom it "entrusted organic wastes." Pet.26 (citing 18 Wn.3d 911, 64 P.3d 1244 (2003)). But the producer did see the farmer when "contract[ing] with" him over "many years." Hickle, 148 Wn.2d at 914-15. More importantly, *Hickle* stressed the defendant's knowledge of prior incidents involving the farmer. The producer continued sending waste to the farmer despite knowing for years that the farmer was illegally dumping "smoldering wastes." *Id.* at 917-18. So the defendant, based on personal observation, knew of "specific instances" indicating "recklessness" or "incompetence." Weber, 162 Wn. App. at 11 n.12.

Removing the well-established actual knowledge requirement would make Washington a national outlier.

Courts have repeatedly refused to impose liability where retailers lacked "actual notice" that the particular customer "was legally incompetent." *Buczkowski* v. *McKay*, 490 N.W.2d 330, 336-37 & n.16 (Mich. 1992). Plaintiffs' novel theory would "effectively require[] independent investigation to establish each buyer's fitness to use each product, leaving negligent commercial transactions open to unlimited expansion tantamount to imposing a fiduciary duty on the retailer." *Id.* at 336 n.16. That is not the law. *See Weber*, 162 Wn. App. at 11 & n.12.

No established category of incompetency. Plaintiffs' novel theory also creates a new, undefined category of legal incompetents: "vulnerable persons." Pet.26-28. Plaintiffs do not cite any pre-or-post WPLA precedent recognizing such a category of "incompetents" for purposes of negligent entrustment.

Nor could they. This Court has held that an "obvious physical or mental impairment" is required to establish the kind of "incompetency" that makes the entrustor liable for the entrustee's self-injury. *Mele* v. *Turner*, 106

Wn.2d 73, 77-78, 720 P.2d 787 (1986). As the Restatement explains, holding suppliers "liable for harm sustained by the incompetent" requires that the entrustee belong to a "class which is legally recognized as so incompetent as to prevent them from being responsible for their actions." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 390, cmt. c (1965) (emphasis added). The only categories that the Restatement recognizes are "child[ren] of tender years" (under 14) and the "obviously ... intoxicated." Id. cmt. c. & illust. 7. Hence, as Division I stressed, this Court's decision in *Bernethy* v. Walt Failor's, *Inc.*—the only case applying negligent-entrustment to a commercial sale—turned on the defendant entrusting a gun to "a visibly intoxicated person." Pet.App.26 (citing 97 Wn.2d 929, 935, 653 P.2d 280 (1982)).

Recognizing "vulnerable persons" as a new category of "incompetents" would invite a slew of negligent-entrustment claims. Retailers would face potentially crushing liability for selling non-defective products to people whose mental-health issues make them more

likely to misuse those products for self-harm. Under Plaintiffs' approach, nearly every retailer sells a potential "instrumentality" enabling self-harm—pharmacies enable bulimia by selling laxatives, liquor stores enable alcoholism by selling spirits, hardware stores enable inhalant abuse by selling spray paint, and gas stations enable gambling addiction by selling lottery tickets.

No duty to inquire. Plaintiffs' novel theory would effectively create a duty for all retailers—not just Amazon—to inquire into purchasers' potential incompetency. With thousands of purchasers buying sodium nitrite on Amazon.com, the only way Amazon could possibly identify who might be considering suicide would be affirmatively investigating each potential purchaser prior to the sale. *Cf.* Pet.App.27. There is "no authority" in Washington establishing "a duty to inquire" or "investigate the background of" customers for "a negligent entrustment claim," and for very good reason. *Kelly* v. *Rickey*, 166 Wn. App. 1010, 2012 WL 255855, at *6 (2012) (unpublished).

The affirmative duty that Plaintiffs' theory requires has no limiting factors. It would create expansive and unpredictable liability; invade the privacy of everyday consumers; and unnecessarily increase the cost of household goods. As Division I pointed out, purchasers' ability to hide their "mental illness" and "mask their suicidal intentions" would make the duty impossible to meet, especially in online retail with no "in-person transactions." Pet.App.27.1

3. RCW 7.72.040(1)(a) cannot support Plaintiffs' novel ordinary-care theory.

Division I correctly concluded that the § 281 duty of ordinary care does not "impose a duty on sellers to protect against intentional misuse of a product." Pet.App.8. Plaintiffs do not cite a single decision anywhere imposing such a duty. See Pet.10-14, 21-25.

¹ Plaintiffs wrongly characterize this as an improper "fact finding." Pet.25-26 n.15. The complaints' factual allegations establish that the decedents hid the seriousness of their mental-health issues—and their intention to commit suicide—from the family members living with them. *Supra* at 10-11.

Instead, Plaintiffs advance a novel theory of duty—based exclusively on post-WPLA decisions—that would make retailers liable for every "foreseeable risk of harm" from selling a product. Pet.12. Allowing such novel theories, forty years after the WPLA's passage, would undermine its primary goals of "delimiting the substantive liabilities of manufacturers and product sellers" and reducing "uncertainty in tort litigation." Wash. Water Power Co. v. Graybar Elec. Co., 112 Wn.2d 847, 851, 863, 774 P.2d 1199 (1989).

For starters, § 281 cannot support liability here given that Plaintiffs have no viable claim under § 388 or § 390. See supra at 20-30. The Restatement says that sections 388 and 390—not § 281—provide the "rule[s] ... determining the liability of one who supplies a chattel for another to use." Restatement (Second) § 390, cmt. a. This Court should not misuse section 281's general rule to impose a duty when the product-specific rules in sections 388 and 390 would not. Doing so would violate this Court's longstanding precedent rejecting the notion that

foreseeable "abuse" or "misuse" of a non-defective product justifies imposing liability for selling that product. *Baughn*, 107 Wn.2d at 146-47.

Plaintiffs spend multiple pages distinguishing Webstad factually. Pet.10-14. But Division I relied on Webstad not for its factual similarities, but for the general principle that suicide is "a voluntary" act of "selfinflicted harm," which takes it outside of the ordinary duty care. Pet.App.24-25 (cleaned up). This Court's precedents buttress that reasoning, explaining that a defendant's "duty extends to self-inflicted harm" only where "a special relationship with [the plaintiff] creat[es] an affirmative duty to provide for [the plaintiff's health, welfare, and safety." Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 639, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) (plurality op.). And Plaintiffs do not challenge Division I's holding that there is no such special-relationship duty under the WPLA. Pet.App.27-28 n.15.

Plaintiffs' framing of their theory as a duty to "not supply the *instrumentality of death*" actually undercuts

their claim. Pet.11. What Plaintiffs seek—forty years after the WPLA's passage—is a novel exception to the longstanding rule that there is no duty to protect purchasers against "known or obvious" "danger[s]" from misusing a product. *Haysom*, 89 Wn.2d at 481. This Court cannot break from "the historical view" of negligence when construing RCW 7.72.040(1)(a). *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 596.

Additionally, Plaintiffs offer no principled limitation for their novel duty. Many common methods of suicide involve consumer goods, including: self-poisoning with over-the-counter drugs (e.g., acetaminophen) or additives (e.g., antifreeze), hanging with rope, and asphyxiation with helium. Plaintiffs' theory would require retailers to ensure that they are not selling these "instrumentalit[ies] of death to vulnerable people." Pet.12. That would mean a "jury is, in effect, allowed to legislate in each particular case whether ... a well-made product" "should not be sold" because of potential "misuse." Baughn, 107 Wn.2d at 135, 146. In Washington, "the

Legislature ... is the appropriate body" to impose such restrictions. *Id.* at 130.

Plaintiffs also criticize (Pet.14 n.11) Division I's conclusion that RCW 9A.36.060 does not "support a corresponding duty in tort law" here. Pet.App.29 n.16. The statute criminalizes "knowingly caus[ing] or aid[ing] another person to attempt suicide." RCW 9A.36.060 (emphasis added). No Washington court has held that a criminal statute with a heightened mens rea provides the "standard of conduct for purposes of a tort action." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 286, cmt. d (1965). The heightened mens rea indicates that no civil liability is intended, as "actual knowledge" is more demanding than the "duty of ordinary care" for negligence actions. Carlsen v. Wackenhut Corp., 73 Wn. App. 247, 257, 868 P.2d 882 (1994).

Finally, Plaintiffs assert that Amazon had a duty to refrain from "suggesting a suicide 'package deal' of other implements and a manual." Pet.22. The actual allegations establish that Amazon made no such

suggestion, and no decedent purchased this supposed "package." *See supra* at 9-10.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition should be denied.

Certificate of Compliance: I certify this brief contains 5,000 words in compliance with Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4 and 18.17(c)(10).